ELSEVIER

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

International Immunopharmacology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/intimp

Coupling pathogen recognition to innate immunity through glycan-dependent mechanisms

Roberto C. Davicino ^a, Ricardo J. Eliçabe ^a, María S. Di Genaro ^a, Gabriel A. Rabinovich ^{b,c,*}

^a Division of Immunology, Faculty of Chemistry, Biochemistry and Pharmacy, National University of San Luis, Laboratory of Immunopathology,

Multidisciplinary Institute of Biological Investigations - San Luis (IMIBIO-SL), (CONICET), San Luis, Argentina

^b Laboratory of Immunopathology, Institute of Biology and Experimental Medicine (IBYME), CONICET, Argentina

^c Department of Biological Chemistry, Faculty of Exact and Natural Sciences, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 April 2011 Accepted 2 May 2011 Available online 18 May 2011

Keywords: Lectins Galectins Toll-like receptors Infection

ABSTRACT

Innate immune cells have evolved to sense microbial pathogens through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), which interact with conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) to convey microbial information into immune cell signaling and activation events. PRRs also recognize endogenous damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs), including alarmins released during microbial invasion, initiation of autoimmune inflammation or tumor growth. In spite of the well-established role of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in mediating these recognition events, compelling evidence supports a central function for lectin-glycan interactions in promoting microbial sensing and evoking immune responses. Here we discuss the role of glycans and lectins (particularly galectins) in mediating microbial recognition and initiation of innate immune responses. Both microbes and host cells are sources of glycan-containing information which is, at least in part, decoded by endogenous glycan-binding proteins or lectins, including C-type lectins, siglecs and galectins. Although C-type lectins and siglecs can recognize microbial glycans when expressed on the cell surface of innate immune cells, galectins mainly function as soluble mediators that bridge microbial or host glycans to amplify or attenuate immune responses. Galectins are widely expressed in host cells and play important roles during different steps of infection such as pathogen recognition, invasion and resolution. In addition, recent studies report the presence of conserved 'galectin-like' domains in certain pathogens including helminths and protistan parasites, suggesting that they could also serve as potential virulence factors that influence the outcome and course of infection. Understanding the role of lectin-glycan interactions and the relevance of PRR or PAMP glycosylation in microbial recognition might contribute to the design of novel prophylactic and therapeutic strategies.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1 Internetion 1	450
1. Introduction	458
2. Host-microbe interactions governed by protein-carbohydrate interactions	458
3. Galectins: the 'sweet' art of coupling extracellular signals to intracellular responses	458
4. Galectin-1: a multifunctional regulator	459
4.1. Gal-1 distribution and function on innate immune cells	459
4.2. Gal-1 and infection	459
5. Modulation of microbial infection by galectins	461
6. Influence of glycosylation on TLR structure and function	461
7. Identification of microbial 'galectin-like' structures	461
8. Conclusions and future perspectives	462
Acknowledgments	462
References	462

* Corresponding author at: Laboratory of Immunopathology, Institute of Biology and Experimental Medicine (IBYME), CONICET, Argentina. *E-mail addresses*: gabyrabi@gmail.com, gabriel.r@ibyme.conicet.gov.ar (G.A. Rabinovich).

^{1567-5769/\$ –} see front matter $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2011.05.002

1. Introduction

The innate immune system has evolved to specifically recognize and eradicate potentially dangerous microorganisms. This intricate cell network, which includes monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, polymorphonuclear neutrophils and dendritic cells (DCs), is in charge of sensing pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) through germ line-encoded receptors, called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) to elicit immune cell signaling [1,2]. Additionally, PRRs can also recognize endogenous ligands termed 'damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)', which are released by host cells into extracellular spaces upon tissue damage incited by microbial insults, acute inflammation or tumor growth [3,4]. While PAMPs include lipids, lipoproteins, proteins and nucleic acids derived from a wide range of microbes such as bacteria, viruses, parasites and fungi [5], the list of DAMPs is getting longer and include heat shock proteins, high mobility group protein-1 (HMGB1); interleukin-1(IL-1) α , defensins and annexins [4]. In addition, as host cells as well as virtually all bacteria, parasites, fungi and viruses, bear cell surface glycan structures, it has been proposed that these molecules may serve to display information critical for host-microbe communication. This information is, at least in part, decoded by endogenous glycan-binding proteins or lectins [5], which act as receptors that could be secreted or expressed on the cell surface of immune cells. Lectin families, including C-type lectins, siglecs and galectins, contain one or more carbohydrate-recognition domains (CRDs) responsible for sugar recognition. The glycan-binding specificity and cell type-specific expression of these receptors are well documented. Whereas galectins are secreted, most C-type lectins and all known siglecs are membranebound proteins [5]. Although galectins are synthesized and stored in the cytoplasmic compartment, they are either passively released by dying cells or actively secreted by inflammatory activated cells upon pathogen-driven tissue damage, through still poorly understood nonclassical pathways. Due to the similarities with other DAMPs or alarmins, including cytosolic localization, release upon tissue damage and non-classical externalization, galectins have been postulated to act as potential DAMPs [4]. This attractive hypothesis merits careful consideration using in vitro and in vivo approaches.

According to subcellular compartmentalization, PRRs have been categorized in cytosolic, transmembrane and secreted PRRs [5,6]. Some lectins play essential roles as recognition molecules either by acting as transmembrane PRRs (C-type lectin receptors) or following secretion by innate immune cells. The group of secreted PRRs includes collectins, ficolins, pentraxins and galectins which are secreted from damaged tissues upon infection [4]. Accumulating evidence indicates that some members of the galectin family can bind to microbial glycans that are specific to pathogens or shared with host cells and such recognition can trigger innate immune responses, to either promote pathogen clearance or establish chronic infections [4]. The transmembrane PRRs include the Toll-like receptor (TLR) and the Ctype lectin receptor (CLR) families. In mammals TLRs are either expressed on the plasma membrane or in endosomal/lysosomal compartments [6]. Cell-surface TLRs recognize PAMPs that are accessible on the cell surface, such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) of Gram-negative bacteria (TLR4), lipoteichoic acids of Gram-positive bacteria and bacterial lipoproteins (TLR1/TLR2 and TLR2/TLR6) and flagellin (TLR5), whereas endosomal TLRs detect mainly nucleic acids, such as double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) (TLR3), single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) (TLR7), and dsDNA (TLR9). Expression of TLRs is cell-type specific, allowing assignment of different responsibilities to various cell types [5]. On the other hand, a variety of CLRs expressed by immune cells can distinguish among several pathogens and elicit signaling pathways to initiate immune responses. These include DC-SIGN that recognizes mannose and fucose-containing glycans, MGL which is specific for terminal GalNAc structures and Dectin-1 and -2 which recognize β -glucans and mannans respectively on fungal cell walls [5]. In this review we highlight recent advances on the role of lectin–glycan interactions in coupling pathogen recognition to innate immune responses. Particularly we discuss the roles of galectins, especially host-derived galectin-1 (Gal-1) and 'galectin-like' proteins present in microorganisms, in the control of microbial infection. Finally, to integrate TLR signaling and glycan recognition, we also discuss the relevance of glycosylation in TLR structure, trafficking and function.

2. Host-microbe interactions governed by protein-carbohydrate interactions

Cell surface lectins, including CLRs and siglecs, are crucial for recognition of specific glycans on PAMPs and initiation of immune responses [7,8]. In this regard, lectins are responsible of conveying information encoded by pathogen glycans to cellular responses such as immune signaling, antigen processing and presentation, cytokine production, activation and differentiation [9]. However, lectins are also encoded in the genome of diverse species including viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoan parasites and helminths [7-11]. Thus, the complexity of host-pathogen interactions is amplified by microbial or host glycosyltransferases and glycosidases which act sequentially to modify glycan structures on the surface of host cells [5,12]. Clear examples are represented by pathogen sialidases which dramatically alter cell surface glycosylation to influence microbial invasion or shift immune responses. These range from neuraminidases expressed by viruses such as influenza virus to sialidases from bacteria including Streptococcus pneumoniae [13,14] and the transialidase from the protozoan parasite Trypanosoma cruzi [14].

The molecular mechanisms underlying lectin-mediated glycan recognition are still poorly understood. Recent studies showed that epitope density, number of N- and O-glycans, as well as the nature of glycoprotein receptors play central roles in lectin binding, crosslinking activity and effector functions [15]. Several authors suggested a different mechanism for the enhanced avidity and cross-linking activity of lectins [16]. Interestingly, a lectin molecule can "bind and jump" from one terminal oligosaccharide to another before its complete dissociation from the glycoprotein backbone [16,17]. Under this scenario, the affinity of a lectin increases with the number of glycan epitopes and spacing of the epitopes (density) in a given glycoprotein [15]. A second mechanism proposes that a lectin possesses multiple CRDs in a common direction, thereby enabling simultaneous interactions between multivalent glycans and clustered epitopes. [18]. This effect, which may lead to the formation of particular arrays of multivalent lectins and glycans, termed 'lattices' [15], suggests the potential role of galectins as soluble PRRs capable of bringing microbes close to the interface of host cells and modulating innate immune signaling.

3. Galectins: the 'sweet' art of coupling extracellular signals to intracellular responses

Galectins constitute a family of evolutionarily conserved lectins which share sequence similarities on the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD), affinity for β -galactosides and absence of a signal peptide required for classical secretion [19,20]. Yet, galectins are soluble proteins that are externalized through an atypical secretory pathway and function mainly outside the cells to recognize microbial glycans and mediate cellular communication. Although galectins are in general soluble non-glycosylated proteins, members with transmembrane domains have also been described [21,22]. Interestingly, galectins were initially identified by their ability to mediate cellular processes such as embryogenesis and tissue architecture [23], although studies performed in the past decade were critical at identifying the pivotal roles of galectins in cancer, immunity and inflammation [24,25].

Not surprisingly, 'galectin-like' structures are found in both mammalian and non-mammalian species. Mammalian galectins can be classified as 'proto-type' galectins which are composed of at least one CRD that can dimerize, (ej., Gal-1, -2, -5, -7, -10, -13, -14, -15), 'chimeratype' galectins (Gal-3) which share a carboxy-terminal CRD linked to an amino-terminal peptide and 'tandem repeat' galectins (Gal-4, -6, -8, -9 and -12) which have two CRDs linked by a functional linker peptide [19,20,26]. In general, galectins recognize terminal N-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc) sequences on cell surface glycoproteins. This structure can be presented in both N- and O-glycans as multiple repetitive units of poly-LacNAc [27]. However, recent evidence underscored glycan-binding preferences among different members of the galectin family (extensively revised in [25]), which could account for divergences in functional activity of each individual galectin. N-glycan branching, multiplicity of LacNAc residues and modification of terminal saccharides (sialylation or fucosylation) are critical factors that contribute to variations in glycan recognition [27-29]. Regarding cellular distribution, some galectins such as Gal-1 and Gal-3 are present in virtually all immune cells although some other members of the family, including Gal-7, Gal-10 and Gal-12 have a more restricted localization. While galectins can act intracellularly by interacting with cell signaling cascades, most of them function extracellularly through direct engagement of specific cell surface glycoconjugates either by forming multivalent 'lattices' or by traditional ligand-receptor interactions [5,24,30-33]. Given the existence of several review articles on the structure and function of different members of the galectin family, in the next section, we will focus our attention on biochemical and functional features of Gal-1 which make this lectin a highly attractive candidate for modulating host-pathogen interactions, eliciting signaling processes and promoting or resolving tissue inflammation during microbial invasion.

4. Galectin-1: a multifunctional regulator

Gal-1 is a 'proto-type' member of the galectin family widely distributed in different tissues including innate and adaptive immune compartments and sites of tissue inflammation [34]. In addition, expression of this endogenous lectin is abundant in immune privileged sites such as placenta [35–37], testis [38,39] and retina [40,41] and is significantly altered (up- or down-regulated) during several pathological conditions, including cancer, infections, and autoimmunity [42–45]. This regulated secretion and preferential localization prompted many investigators to study the potential role for Gal-1 in the control of leukocyte trafficking, immune tolerance and homeostasis.

4.1. Gal-1 distribution and function on innate immune cells

In spite of significant advances in elucidating the role of Gal-1 within the T- and B-cell compartments, the effects of this protein among innate immune cells are poorly understood [45]. These effects are particularly interesting in terms of the potential role of lectin–glycan lattices at the interface of innate and adaptive immune responses. In this regard, in vitro studies showed that Gal-1 functions to limit neutrophil recruitment to TNF-treated human endothelia, a property that may underline its inhibitory effects in acute inflammation. In in vivo studies, leukocyte trafficking and transmigration were considerably increased in the cremasteric circulation of Gal-1 null mice challenged with IL-1 β [46]. Moreover, Stowell and colleagues (2009) showed that Gal-1 induces phosphatidylserine exposure in human neutrophils independently of alterations in mitochondrial potential, caspase activation, or cell death, thus favoring phagocytic removal of neutrophils [47]. These results suggested a novel immunoregulatory role of Gal-1 in facilitating leukocyte turnover independently of apoptosis, a process that was named as 'preaparesis' [48]. In addition, in vitro studies demonstrated that recombinant human Gal-1 inhibits neutrophil chemotaxis and transendothelial migration. *In vivo*, hrGal-1 limits IL-1 β -induced neutrophil recruitment into the mouse peritoneal cavity [49]. These data showed previously unrecognized functions for Gal-1 in the control of leukocyte trafficking and extravasation.

In keeping with its anti-inflammatory functions, in vivo study in rats demonstrated that Gal-1 inhibits acute inflammation induced by bee venom phospholipase A2 (PLA2). Histopathological studies showed a clear reduction of the inflammatory process when Gal-1 was injected before PLA2. The anti-inflammatory effect was also assessed in vitro, showing that Gal-1 treatment reduced prostaglandin E2 secretion and arachidonic acid release from stimulated peritoneal macrophages [50]. Moreover, pretreatment of rat macrophages with Gal-1 induced a dose and time-dependent inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide (NO) production, while favored the balance toward activation of L-arginase, the alternative metabolic pathway of L-arginine. Inhibition of NO production was not the result of increased macrophage apoptosis because addition of this β -galactoside-binding protein to macrophages under the same experimental conditions did not affect the apoptotic threshold of these cells. [51]. On the other hand, in vitro exposure to Gal-1 differentially regulated constitutive and inducible FcyRI expression on human monocytes and FcyRI-dependent phagocytosis. In addition, Gal-1 inhibited IFN-y-induced MHC class II (MHC-II) expression and MHC-II-dependent antigen presentation in a dose-dependent manner. These regulatory effects were also evident in mouse macrophages. Investigation of the mechanisms involved in these functions showed that Gal-1 does not affect survival of human monocytes, but rather influences FcyRI- and MHC-II-dependent functions through active mechanisms involving modulation of an ERK1/2-dependent pathway [52].

Recent findings from our laboratory identified an immunoregulatory circuit by which Gal-1 favors the differentiation of regulatory DCs, which promotes T cell tolerance through mechanisms involving IL-27 and IL-10 [53]. Using several experimental approaches, we found that DCs differentiated in a Gal-1-enriched microenvironment acquired IL-27-dependent regulatory function, promoted IL-10-mediated T cell tolerance and suppressed autoimmune neuroinflammation [54]. Consistent with these findings, at the fetomaternal interface Gal-1 favored the recruitment of a population of uterine innate DCs with a regulatory cell-surface phenotype [55].

In contrast to the considerable information on the role of Gal-3 in mast cell physiology [45], scarce information is available on the role of Gal-1 on this cell type [56]. In this regard, an indirect inhibitory role of Gal-1 on mast degranulation has been reported [51]. This inhibitory effect did not appear to be associated with an induction of cell death as recombinant Gal-1 did not trigger mast cell apoptosis [45,56].

Thus, several studies demonstrated that Gal-1 and other galectin family members play a wide variety of roles in innate immunity cells and pathogens may actually utilize galectins as mechanisms of host invasion (Fig. 1).

4.2. Gal-1 and infection

Galectins can recognize glycans on different microorganisms including viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoan parasites and helminths. These glycan structures can be pathogen-specific or shared by host cells, thereby delineating a degree of specificity in glycan-mediated pathogen recognition [5]. In contrast to compelling evidence on the role of Gal-3 during microbial infection [5], less information is available on the role of Gal-1 in host–pathogen interactions.

Nipah (NiV) and Hendra (HeV) viruses are members of the *Henipavirus* genus of the *Paramyxoviridae*. NiV is an emergent paramyxovirus that causes fatal encephalitis in infected patients, and there is increasing evidence of human-to-human transmission [57]. NiV infection of endothelial cells results in cell–cell fusion and



Fig. 1. Galectins participate in host–pathogen interactions influencing the functions of innate immune cells. During infection, galectins recognize glyco-epitopes either restricted to pathogens or shared by host cell and affect different functions of innate immunity cells. While Gal-1 inhibits neutrophil transmigration through the extracellular matrix, Gal-3 favors neutrophil adhesion to endothelia through its oligomerization processes. Galectins also increase superoxide and IL-8 production. In contrast, Gal-1 inhibits nitric oxide production and MHC II-dependent antigen presentation by monocytes/macrophage. Moreover, Gal-9 contributes to monocyte/macrophage apoptosis. In addition, Gal-1 promotes tolerogenic dendritic cells (DCs) inducing secretion of high amounts of IL-27 and IL-10. Furthermore, while Gal-9 stimulates IL-12 production by DCs, Gal-3 inhibits secretion of this cytokine. Thus, galectins can differentially influence innate immune reactions elicited in response to pathogens.

syncytia formation triggered by the fusion and attachment of NiV envelope glycoproteins that are enriched in Gal-1-specific glycans [58]. Recent studies demonstrated that Gal-1 interacts with specific N-glycans on the Nipah envelope proteins [58] and blocks fusion events [58]. Interestingly, this effect appeared to be highly specific as Gal-1 did not inhibit fusion triggered by envelope glycoproteins of other viruses, such as retroviruses and poxvirus, but inhibited fusion triggered by envelope glycoproteins of the closely related Hendra virus and other paramyxovirus. In addition, Gal-1 increased DC production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 favoring the antiviral effects and augmenting innate immune responses [58]. Yet, how these effects are reconciled with the tolerogenic effects of Gal-1 on DCs is still not clear. It is possible that different effects are induced by this endogenous lectin depending on its relative concentrations, monomeric versus dimeric forms of the protein, activation or differentiation status of the cells or timeline at which Gal-1 was incorporated to cell cultures [59].

Although the information on the role of Gal-1 in infection is limited, it has been reported, using cDNA microarrays, that *Lgals1* is upregulated by *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric epithelial AGS cells [60]. In this regard, other authors reported binding of galectins to specific glycans present in *H. pylori* [61]. Interestingly, in elegant studies, Stowell and colleagues demonstrated that Gal-4 and Gal-8 but not Gal-1, when expressed along the intestinal tract, selectively recognize and kill *Escherichia coli*-expressing human blood group antigens, while fail to kill other Gram-negative or Gram-positive microorganisms. The killing activity of both Gal-4 and Gal-8 was mediated by their C-terminal domains, occurred independently of complement and was accompanied by disruption of membrane integrity [62]. These findings demonstrated that galectins can provide innate immunity against pathogens that display blood group self-antigens on their surface, thus filling a gap

generated by the absence of group-specific antibodies in these groups of individuals.

Interestingly, Gal-1 can bind to several parasites, including low affinity interactions with Leishmania major [63] and Trichomonas *vaginalis* [64]. However, the major number of studies reported to date was aimed at clarifying the effects of the Gal-1 during Trypanosoma cruzi infection. In this regard, in vitro treatment with low concentrations of Gal-1 increased T. cruzi replication and attenuated the release of soluble mediators required for parasite killing, such as IL-12 and nitric oxide, whereas high doses of this lectin were able to commit cells to apoptosis and suppress parasite replication [65] (Table 1). In this regard, anti-Gal-1 autoantibodies have been reported in sera from patients with acute Chagas' disease [66]. Interestingly, anti-Gal-1 IgG immunoreactivity was found to correlate with the severity of cardiac damage at chronic stages of Chagas' disease. Interestingly, in these assays no specific immunoreactivity against T. cruzi antigens was observed using a specific anti-Gal-1 polyclonal antibody. Remarkably, Gal-1 was found to be dramatically up-regulated in cardiac tissue from patients with severe Chagas' cardiac disease, compared to cardiac tissue from normal individuals [66].

An interesting implication of Gal-1 induction by viruses is reflected by the emerging role of this lectin in viral-induced lymphoproliferative disorders. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLDs) are potentially fatal Epstein Barr Virus (EBV)-driven B-cell malignancies that develop in immunocompromised solid organ or hematopoietic stem cell recipients. Ouyang et al. recently found that EBV-transformed lymphoblastoid B-cell lines (LCLs) and primary PTLDs overexpress Gal-1 through mechanisms involving the EBV antigens LMP2A and LMP1. Gal-1 expression in LCLs was both AP-1 and PI3K-dependent [67]. Thus, viral induction of Gal-1 may contribute to amplify the immunosuppressive microenvironment characteristic of these malignancies.

Table	1
-------	---

Role of Gal-1 in host-pathogen interactions.

Microorganism	Gal-1 effects	Reference
Virus		
Nipah	Gal-1 interacts with specific N-glycans on envelope proteins and blocks cell-cell fusion.	[57], [58]
	Gal-1 increases production of IL-6 by DCs favoring the antiviral effects and augmenting innate immune responses.	[58]
Hendra	Gal-1 inhibits fusion triggered by envelope glycoproteins of the virus.	[58]
Epstein–Barr virus (EBV)	Gal-1 is overexpressed in EBV-driven B-cell malignancies	[67]
Bacteria		
Helicobacter pylori	Gal-1 is up-regulated in infected gastric epithelial cells.	[60]
Parasites		
Leishmania major	Gal-1 interacts with low affinity with the parasite.	[63]
Trichomonas vaginalis	Gal-1 interacts with high affinity with the parasite and mediates infection.	[64]
Trypanosoma cruzi	At low concentrations, Gal-1, increases <i>in vitro T. cruzi</i> replication and inhibits cytokines (IL-12) involved in parasite killing. At high doses, Gal-1 inhibits parasite replication and commits infected cells to apoptosis.	[65]

5. Modulation of microbial infection by galectins

It has been proposed that several pathogens could infect host target cells by subverting the role of host galectins as PRRs, and/or modulating cell-cell attachment or entry into target cells. In this regard, Gal-1 promotes HIV-1 infection either by enhancing binding of the virus to host cells, increasing the absorption of HIV-1 by monocyte-derived host macrophages or acting as a soluble scavenger receptor to facilitate viral uptake by macrophages [68,69]. In addition, Gal-1 has been proposed to serve as receptor for Trichomonas vaginalis, an extracellular pathogen capable of adhering to lipophosphoglycan (LPG) structures rich in galactose and N-acetylglucosamine. These saccharide structures are specifically recognized by Gal-1 that is expressed in inflamed tissues. As Gal-7 does not attach to this parasite, it has been speculated that Gal-1 has some binding preferences for T. vaginalis [70]. Although much remains to be learned, these results encourage a more in-depth study of the role of galectins as potential PRRs that modulate microbial-host cell interactions and innate immune signaling.

6. Influence of glycosylation on TLR structure and function

Regulated glycosylation can modulate immune response and hostpathogen interactions through exposure of glyco-epitopes that are specific for endogenous lectins [5]. However, it has been proposed that glycosylation also controls other processes including trafficking and cellular distribution of TLRs as well as specific interactions with PAMPs. TLRs are type I transmembrane proteins with ectodomains containing leucine-rich repeats (LRR) that mediate the recognition of PAMPs, transmembrane domains, and intracellular Toll-IL-1 receptor (TIR) domains required for downstream signal transduction. So far, 10 and 12 functional TLRs have been identified in humans and mouse respectively, with TLR1-TLR9 being conserved in both species. Mouse TLR10 is not functional because of a retrovirus insertion, and TLR11, TLR12 and TLR13 have been lost from the human genome [1]. An important area in TLR research is related to the understanding of the biochemical and structural bases of PAMP recognition [71,72]. The trafficking of TLRs could be affected by glycosylation. It has been well-established that LRR domains expressed in all human TLRs are N-glycosylated and these glycan structures appear to be essential for proper function. Homology models and quantitative analyses demonstrated that human TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 contain the highest number of putative N-glycosylation sites. However, glycosylation of some TLRs can also regulate their cell surface distribution; yet in most cases the ligand binding pocket is located in non-glycosylated regions. On the other hand, biochemical and structural analysis of TLR2 and TLR4, demonstrated that N-linked glycosylation plays an essential role in TLR secretion and localization [73,74]. Sun et al. have characterized the contribution of glycosylation to TLR3 structure and function. The authors found that inhibition of glycosylation prevented TLR3induced NF-KB activation, but did not affect expression or cell surface localization of this receptor confirming that *N*-linked glycosylation is required for the bioactivity of this receptor [75]. Based on these data, some TLRs belong to a group of glycoproteins that require glycosylation sites for their secretion and localization. Meanwhile in other TLRs, receptor glycosylation is required for modulating their biological activity and function [75].

7. Identification of microbial 'galectin-like' structures

Although the expression and function of host galectins have been extensively appreciated, there is still scarce information on the repertoire of 'galectin-like molecules' expressed by pathogens and associated to their virulence. Although these structures are theoretically present in diverse species and represented in multiple databases [20], their biological function remains a mystery. In this regard, 'galectin-like' molecules which show high similarity in their amino acid sequences have been isolated from helminth parasites, including Fasciola hepatica, which causes atrophy in the liver parenchyma and periportal cirrhosis in humans [76]. Also, immediately prior to invasion, Toxoplasma gondii tachyzoites release a large number of micronemal proteins (TgMICs) that participate in host cell attachment and penetration. The TgMIC4-MIC1-MIC6 complex was the first to be identified in T. gondii and has been recently shown to be critical in invasion. Instead, the TgMIC1 'galectin-like' domain stabilizes TgMIC6, which provides the basis for a highly specific quality control mechanism for successful exit from the early secretory compartments and for subsequent trafficking of the complex to the micronemes [14,77]. Interestingly, MIC1 has been originally identified as a galactose-binding protein present in tachyzoites of a virulent T. gondii strain [78]. Of interest, it has been demonstrated that feeding of Caenorhabditis elegans with a mushroom 'galectin-like' protein (CGL2) isolated from Coprinopsis cinerea inhibited development and reproduction and ultimately killed the nematode. Importantly, the effects of CGL2 were dependent of the interaction between the galectin and a fucose-containing glycoconjugate [79]. On the other hand, Kim et al. isolated a Gal-9 homologue gene (Tl-gal) from an adult worm of the canine gastrointestinal nematode parasite Toxascaris leonina. The deduced amino acid sequence of the Tl-gal gene shared a 35% identity with the human Gal-9 gene (Lgals9). The authors confirmed that recombinant rTl-GAL like mammalian galectins have a distinctive CRD. The clinical symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease in mice treated with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) were attenuated when mice were pre-treated with rTl-GAL, as shown by increased levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokines TGF-B and IL-10. These observations demonstrated that, similar to host Gal-1, rTl-GAL inhibits inflammatory reactions by skewing the balance towards Th2 and T regulatory cytokine profiles. This is the first study demonstrating that a nematode galectin may function similarly to a host galectin serving

as a regulatory backup mechanism to dampen potentially harmful immune responses [80].

8. Conclusions and future perspectives

In recent years there has been an increasing appreciation of the role of galectins and glycans in the homeostatic control of immune responses as well as their role in host-microbe interactions [58-66]. This evidence also clarified some of the mechanisms underlying tumor-immune escape and recovery of autoimmune inflammation [42–45]. Moreover, emerging data hint to a novel role of galectins as PRRs that control pathogen attachment, entry and invasion [4]. Hostderived galectins may contribute to amplify, fine-tune or attenuate antimicrobial immune responses by coupling glycan-dependent structures on pathogenic microorganisms to innate immune cells. On the other hand, the role of glycosylation in TLR trafficking, secretion, localization and function suggests another possible target of modulation. Finally, the presence of candidate 'galectin-like' molecules in a diversity of pathogens [76-80] suggests their potential function as virulence factors involved in microbial invasion, which add to the complexity of the host 'galectinomics'. Collectively, these results highlight the versatility of the mammalian and microbial 'glycome' during infection. Understanding the role of cell surface glycosylation during host-pathogen interactions may help to delineate novel therapeutic strategies based on galectin-glycan interactions as immunomodulators, inhibitors of pathogen invasion and potential adjuvant of novel or conventional vaccines.

Acknowledgments

We apologize to the many authors whose papers could not be cited owing to space limitations. Supported by The National Agency for Promotion of Science and Technology (PICT Bicentenario), Sales Foundation for Cancer Research (Argentina), National Council of Scientific and Technical Investigation (Argentina), University of Buenos Aires (Argentina) and Mizutani Foundation for Glycoscience (Japan).

References

- Akira S, Takeda K, Kaisho T. Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. Nat Immunol 2001;2:675–80.
- [2] Janeway Jr CA, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 2002;20:197–216.
- [3] Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science 2002;296:301-5.
- [4] Sato S, St-Pierre C, Bhaumik P, Nieminen J. Galectins in innate immunity: dual functions of host soluble β-galactoside-binding lectins as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and as receptors for pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Immunol Rev 2009;230:172–87.
- [5] van Kooyk Y, Rabinovich GA. Protein–glycan interactions in the control of innate and adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 2008;9:593–601.
- [6] Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol 2010;11:373–84.
- [7] van Kooyk Y, Geijtenbeek TBH. DC-SIGN: escape mechanism for pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:697–709.
- [8] Crocker PR, Paulson JC, Varki A. Siglecs and their roles in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 2007;7:255–66.
- [9] Sharon N. Lectins: carbohydrate-specific reagents and biological recognition molecules. J Biol Chem 2007;282:2753–64.
- [10] Vasta GR, Ahmed H. Animal lectins: a functional view. Boca Raton: CRC; 2008.
- [11] Vasta GR, Ahmed H, Odom EO. Structural and functional diversity of lectin repertoires in invertebrates, protochordates and ectothermic vertebrates. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2004;14:617–30.
- [12] Marth JD, Grewal PK. Mammalian glycosylation in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:874–87.
- [13] Medzhitov R, Janeway CA. The Toll receptor family and microbial recognition. Trends Microbiol 2000;8:452–6.
- [14] Vasta GR. Roles of galectins in infection. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009;7:424–38.
- [15] Dam TK, Brewer F. Lectins as pattern recognition molecules: the effects of epitope density in innate immunity. Glycobiology 2010;20:270–9.
- [16] Dam TK, Gerken TA, Cavada BS, Nascimento KS, Moura TR, Brewer CF. Binding studies of α-GalNAc specific lectins to the α-GalNAc (Tn antigen) form of porcine submaxillary mucin and its smaller fragments. J Biol Chem 2007;282:28256–63.
- [17] Dam TK, Brewer CF. Effects of clustered epitopes in multivalent ligand-receptor interactions. Biochemistry 2008;47:8470-6.

- [18] Lee RT, Lee YC. Affinity enhancement by multivalent lectin–carbohydrate interactions. Glycoconj J 2000;17:543–51.
- [19] Houzelstein D, Gonçalves IR, Fadden AJ, Sidhu SS, Cooper DN, Drickamer K, et al. Phylogenetic analysis of the vertebrate galectin family. Mol Biol Evol 2004;21: 1177–87.
- [20] Cooper DN. Galectinomics: finding themes in complexity. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1572:209–31.
- [21] Lipkowitz MS, Leal-Pinto E, Cohen BE, Abramson RG. Galectin 9 is the sugarregulated urate transporter/channel UAT. Glycoconj J 2004;19:491–8.
- [22] Gorski JP, Liu FT, Artigues A, Castagna LF, Osdoby P. New alternatively spliced form of galectin-3, a member of the β-galactoside-binding animal lectin family, contains a predicted transmembrane-spanning domain and a leucine zipper motif. J Biol Chem 2002;277:18840–8.
- [23] Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y, Poirier F. Introduction to galectins. Glycoconj J 2004;19:433–40.
- [24] Yang RY, Rabinovich GA, Liu FT. Galectins: structure, function and therapeutic potential. Expert Rev Mol Med 2008;10:e17.
- [25] Rabinovich GA, Toscano MA. Turning 'sweet' on immunity: galectin-glycan interactions in immune tolerance and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 2009;9: 338–52.
- [26] Hirabayashi J, Kasai K. The family of metazoan metal-independent β-galactosidebinding lectins: structure, function and molecular evolution. Glycobiology 1993;3: 297–304.
- [27] Hirabayashi J, Hashidate T, Arata Y, Nishi N, Nakamura T, Hirashima M, et al. Oligosaccharide specificity of galectins: a search by frontal affinity chromatography. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1572:232–54.
- [28] Stowell SR, Arthur CM, Mehta P, Slanina KA, Blixt O, Leffler H, et al. Galectin-1, -2, and -3 exhibit differential recognition of sialylated glycans and blood group antigens. J Biol Chem 2008;283:10109–23.
- [29] Patnaik SK, Potvin B, Carlsson S, Sturm D, Leffler H, Stanley P. Complex N-glycans are the major ligands for galectin-1, -3, and -8 on Chinese hamster ovary cells. Glycobiology 2006;16:305–17.
- [30] Cummings RD, Liu FT. Essentials of glycobiology. 2nd edition. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2008.
- [31] Rabinovich GA, Toscano MA, Jackson SS, Vasta GR. Functions of cell surface galectin–glycoprotein lattices. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2007;17:513–20.
- [32] Brewer CF, Miceli MC, Baum LG. Clusters, bundles, arrays and lattices: novel mechanisms for lectin–saccharide-mediated cellular interactions. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2002;12:616–23.
- [33] Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. Nat Immunol 2005;6:1245–52.
- [34] Cerliani JP, Stowell SR, Mascanfroni ID, Arthur CM, Cummings RD, Rabinovich GA. Expanding the universe of cytokines and pattern recognition receptors: galectins and glycans in innate immunity. J Clin Immunol 2011;31:10–21.
- [35] Terness P, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG, Rabinovich GA, Saito S, Clark DA. Tolerance signaling molecules and pregnancy: IDO, galectins, and the renaissance of regulatory T cells. Am J Reprod Immunol 2007;58:238–54.
- [36] Iglesias MM, Rabinovich GA, Ivanovic V, Sotomayor C, Wolfenstein-Todel C. Galectin-1 from ovine placenta-amino-acid sequence, physicochemical properties and implications in T-cell death. Eur J Biochem 1998;252:400–7.
- [37] Kopcow HD, Rosetti F, Leung Y, Allan DS, Kutok JL, Strominger JL. T cell apoptosis at the maternal-fetal interface in early human pregnancy, involvement of galectin-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:18472–7.
- [38] Dettin L, Rubinstein N, Aoki A, Rabinovich GA, Maldonado CA. Regulated expression and ultrastructural localization of galectin-1, a proapoptotic β-galactoside binding lectin, during spermatogenesis in rat testis. Biol Reprod 2003;68:51–9.
- [39] Wollina U, Schreiber G, Go" rnig M, Feldrappe S, Burchert M, Gabius HJ. Sertoli cell expression of galectin-1 and -3 and accessible binding sites in normal human testis and Sertoli cell only-syndrome. Histol Histopathol 1999;14:779–84.
- [40] Ishida K, Panjwani N, Cao Z, Streilein JW. Participation of pigment epithelium in ocular immune privilege. 3. Epithelia cultured from iris, ciliary body, and retina suppress T-cell activation by partially non-overlapping mechanisms. Ocul Immunol Inflamm 2003;11:91–105.
- [41] Romero MD, Muiño JC, Bianco GA, Ferrero M, Juarez CP, Luna JD, et al. Circulating anti-galectin-1 antibodies are associated with the severity of ocular disease in autoimmune and infectious uveitis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2006;47:1550–6.
- [42] Harjacek M, Diaz-Cano S, De Miguel M, Wolfe H, Maldonado CA, Rabinovich GA. Expression of galectins-1 and -3 correlates with defective mononuclear cell apoptosis in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2001;28:1914–22.
- [43] Rabinovich GA, Gruppi A. Galectins as immunoregulators during infectious processes: from microbial invasion to the resolution of the disease. Parasite Immunol 2005;7:103–14.
- [44] Salatino M, Rabinovich GA. Fine-tuning antitumor responses through the control of galectin–glycan interactions: an overview. Methods Mol Biol 2011;677:355–74.
- [45] Liu FT, Rabinovich GA. Galectins: regulators of acute and chronic inflammation. Ann NY Acad Sci 2010;1183:158–82.
- [46] Cooper D, Norling LV, Perretti M. Novel insights into the inhibitory effects of Galectin-1 on neutrophil recruitment under flow. J Leukoc Biol 2008;83:1459–66.
- [47] Stowell SR, Karmakar S, Arthur CM, Ju T, Rodrigues LC, Riul TB, et al. Galectin-1 induces reversible phosphatidylserine exposure at the plasma membrane. Mol Biol Cell 2009;20:1408–18.
- [48] Stowell SR, Karmakar S, Stowell CJ, Dias-Baruffi M, McEver RP, Cummings RD. Human galectin-1, -2, and -4 induce surface exposure of phosphatidylserine in activated human neutrophils but not in activated T cells. Blood 2007;109:219–27.

- [49] La M, Cao TV, Cerchiaro G, Chilton K, Hirabayashi J, Kasai K, et al. A novel biological activity for galectin-1: Inhibition of leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in experimental inflammation. Am J Pathol 2003;163:1505–15.
- [50] Rabinovich GA, Sotomayor CE, Riera CM, Bianco I, Correa SG. Evidence of arole for galectin-1 in acute inflammation. Eur J Immunol 2000;30:1331–9.
- [51] Correa SG, Sotomayor CE, Aoki MP, Maldonado CA, Rabinovich GA. Opposite effects of galectin-1 on alternative metabolic pathways of L-arginine in resident, inflammatory, and activated macrophages. Glycobiology 2003;13:119–28.
- [52] Barrionuevo P, Beigier-Bompadre M, Ilarregui J, Toscano MA, Bianco GA, Isturiz MA, et al. A novel function for galectin-1 at the crossroad of innate and adaptive immunity: galectin-1 regulates monocyte/macrophage physiology through a nonapoptotic ERK-dependent pathway. J Immunol 2007;178:436–45.
- [53] Ilarregui JM, Croci DO, Bianco GA, Toscano MA, Salatino M, Vermeulen ME, et al. Tolerogenic signals delivered by dendritic cells to T cells through a galectin-1driven immunoregulatory circuit involving interleukin 27 and interleukin 10. Nat Immunol 2009;10:981–91.
- [54] Mascanfroni ID, Cerliani JP, Dergan-Dylon S, Croci DO, Ilarregui JM, Rabinovich GA. Endogenous lectins shape the function of dendritic cells and tailor adaptive immunity: Mechanisms and biomedical applications. Int Immunopharmacol 2011;11:833–41.
- [55] Blois SM, Ilarregui JM, Tometten M, Garcia M, Orsal AS, Cordo-Russo R, et al. A pivotal role for galectin-1 in fetomaternal tolerance. Nat Med 2007;13:1450–7.
- [56] Suzuki Y, Inoue T, Yoshimaru T, Ra C. Galectin-3 but not galectin-1 induces mast cell death by oxidative stress and mitochondrial permeability transition. Biochem Biophys Acta 2008;1783:924–34.
- [57] Garner OB, Aguilar HC, Fulcher JA, Levroney EL, Harrison R, Wright L, et al. Endothelial galectin-1 binds to specific glycans on Nipah virus fusion protein and inhibits maturation, mobility, and function to block syncytia formation. PLoS Pathog 2010;6:e1000993.
- [58] Levroney EL, Aguilar HC, Fulcher JA, Kohatsu I, Pace KE, Pang M, et al. Novel innate immune functions for galectin-1: galectin-1 inhibits cell fusion by Nipah virus envelope glycoproteins and augments dendritic cell secretion of proinflammatory cytokines. J Immunol 2005;175:413–20.
- [59] Rabinovich GA, llarregui JM. Conveying glycan information into T-cell homeostatic programs: a challenging role for galectin-1 in inflammatory and tumor microenvironments. Immunol Rev 2009;230:144–59.
- [60] Lim JW, Kim H, Kim KH. Cell adhesion-related gene expression by Helicobacter pylori in gastric epithelial AGS cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2003;35:1284–96.
- [61] Huff JL, Hansen LM, Solnick JV. Gastric transcription profile of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the Rhesus Macaque. Infect Immun 2004;72:5216–26.
- [62] Stowell SR, Arthur CM, Dias-Baruffi M, Rodrigues LC, Gourdine JP, Heimburg-Molinaro J, et al. Innate immune lectins kill bacteria expressing blood group antigen. Nat Med 2010;16:295–301.
- [63] Pelletier I, Sato S. Specific recognition and cleavage of galectin-3 by *Leishmania major* through species-specific polygalactose epitope. J Biol Chem 2002;277:17663–70.
- [64] Okumura CYM, Baum LC, Johnson PJ. Galectin-1 on cervical epithelial cells is a receptor for the sexually transmitted human parasite *Trichomonas vaginalis*. Cell Microbiol 2008;10:2078–90.

- [65] Zuñiga E, Gruppi A, Hirabayashi J, Kasai KI, Rabinovich GA. Regulated expression and effect of galectin-1 on *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected macrophages: modulation of microbicidal activity and survival. Infect Immun 2001;69:6804–12.
- [66] Giordanengo L, Gea S, Barbieri G, Rabinovich GA. Anti-galectin-1 autoantibodies in human *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection: differential expression of this β-galactoside-binding protein in cardiac Chagas' disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2001;124:266–73.
- [67] Ouyang J, Juszczynski P, Rodig SJ, Green MR, O'Donnell E, Currie T, Armant M, Takeyama K, Monti S, Rabinovich GA, Ritz J, Kutok JL, Shipp MA. Viral induction and targeted inhibition of galectin-1 in EBV+ post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders. Blood 2011;117:4315–22.
- [68] Ouellet M, Mercier S, Pelletier I, Bounou S, Roy J, Hirabayashi J, et al. Galectin-1 acts as a soluble host factor that promotes HIV-1 infectivity through stabilization of virus attachment to host cells. J Immunol 2005;174:4120–6.
- [69] Mercier S, St-Pierre C, Pelletier I, Ouellet M, Tremblay MJ, Sato S. Galectin-1 promotes HIV-1 infectivity in macrophages through stabilization of viral adsorption. Virology 2008;371:121–9.
- [70] Fichorova RN. Impact of *T. vaginalis* infection on innate immune responses and reproductive outcome. J Reprod Immunol 2009;83:185–9.
- [71] Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 2006;124:783–801.
- [72] Jin MS, Lee JO. Structures of the Toll-like receptor family and its ligand complexes. Immunity 2008;29:182–91.
- [73] Sun J, Duffy KE, Ranjith-Kumar CT, Xiong J, Lamb RJ, Santos J, et al. Structural and functional analyses of the human Toll-like receptor 3. Role of glycosylation J Biol Chem 2006;281:11144–51.
- [74] Weber AN, Morse MA, Gay NJ. J. Four N-linked glycosylation sites in human tolllike receptor 2 cooperate to direct efficient biosynthesis and secretion. J Biol Chem 2004;279:34589–94.
- [75] da Silva Correia J, Ulevitch RJ. MD-2 and TLR4 N-linked glycosylations are important for a functional lipopolysaccharide receptor. J Biol Chem 2002;277:1845–54.
- [76] Greenhalgh CJ, Beckham SA, Newton SE. Galectins from sheep gastrointestinal nematode parasites are highly conserved. Mol Biochem Parasitol 1999;98:285–9.
- [77] Saouros S, Edwards-Jones B, Reiss M, Sawmynaden K, Cota E, Simpson P, et al. A novel galectin-like domain from *Toxoplasma gondii* micronemal protein 1 assists the folding, assembly, and transport of a cell adhesion complex. J Biol Chem 2005;280:38583–91.
- [78] Lourenço EV, Pereira SR, Faça VM, Coelho-Castelo AA, Mineo JR, Roque-Barreira MC, et al. *Toxoplasma gondii* micronemal protein MIC1 is a lactose-binding lectin. Glycobiology 2001;11:541–7.
- [79] Butschi A, Titz A, Wälti MA, Olieric V, Paschinger K, Nöbauer K, et al. Caenorhabditis elegans N-glycan core β-galactoside confers sensitivity towards nematotoxic fungal galectin CGL2. PLoS Pathog 2010;6:e1000717.
- [80] Kim JY, Cho MK, Choi SH, Lee KH, Ahn S, Kim DH, et al. Inhibition of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced intestinal inflammation via enhanced IL-10 and TGF-β production by galectin-9 homologues isolated from intestinal parasites. Mol Biochem Parasitol 2010;174:53–61.